**RECEIVED**

**Oct 15 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

G.D Morgan, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-23-0312

Appeal Case No 2024-000731

D & B Real Estate Ventures, LLC.  
Darius Jones, Bradley Robinson,

Respondents

v.

Christopher Jones ,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**


s/   
Christopher Jones  
309 Perry Avenue  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 371-0989  
Appellant

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 31, 2023 Christopher Jones and Darius Jones entered into a South Carolina Purchase Contract with Joshua Dial as the Registered South Carolina Real Estate Agent. The terms of the Purchase Contract was that Christopher Jones would pay \$113,000 for the property and would be permitted to make repairs in order to secure financing. Christopher, the Appellant invested more than \$45,600 into the property. The closing was to take place on December 30, 2023. Darius Jones of D&B Real Estate Ventures, LLC was supposedly the owners of the property, yet D&B Real Estate Investments LLC was the name of the entity on the South Carolina Purchase contract as owner of the property.

Once the Appellant secured the financing for the purchase of the property from D&B Real Estate Investment LLC thinking it was Respondents' D&B Real Estate Ventures LLC, a title search was ordered. Upon the conclusion of the title search, attorney Andrew Jones informed the Appellant that the title was in fact not clear. Once Appellant informed the Respondents, a full dispute ensued. As discussions were had to remedy the problem, Bradley Robinson and Darius Jones approached the Appellant and stated that they would pay Appellant for the work, but only on a draw system. Appellant refused and filed suit. The Appellant filed a mechanic's lien with Greenville County Registered of Deeds.

The facts are undisputed and are established by the well pleaded allegations in Appellants' Complaint. By filing their Motion to Dismiss or in the alternative, Motion for Summary judgment, Defendants admits that the improvements were made to the property and did not object or resist the improvement to the property. Thereby, Respondents seeks to be unjustly enriched by Appellants paid for improvements. Theses facts are undisputed. The parties agree they entered a written, valid, and enforceable contract. D&B Real Estate agent wrote the purchase contract, to include the terms and conditions for either party to terminate the contract. The Purchase Contract was allowed to expire after the breach by the Defendants and Respondent Darius Jones proposed an option to compensate Appellant and agreed to purchase the Contract, property and improvements from Appellant. Appellant filed this

action alleging after Respondents failed to reimburse him for the wrongful termination and breach of that purchase contract. Respondents responded to the Complaint with Motions for Dismissal and Summary Judgment Defendants breached the contract by failing to deliver a good, clean, clear and marketable title.

1. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN APPLYING SECTION 40-11-370(C) TO THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT(BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM) ..... 2

**BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO THE APPLICATION OF S.C. CODE § 40-11-370(C) TO REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACTS**

**I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal concerns the improper application of South Carolina Code Section 40-11-370(C), the unlicensed contractor statute, to a transaction involving solely a real estate purchase contract. No construction contract was involved in the underlying transaction.

**II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The facts establish that the only contract involved in this matter was a real estate purchase contract. In this contract was a provision that allowed for the owner, an individual to make the necessary repairs for himself. No construction contract, no contract for construction work, or construction services were contracted for or provided.

**III. QUESTION PRESENTED**

Whether South Carolina Code Section 40-11-370(C) applies to bar enforcement of a real estate purchase contract where no construction contract or construction services were involved.

## **IV. ARGUMENT**

### **A. S.C. Code § 40-11-370(C) Does Not Apply to Real Estate Purchase Contracts**

#### **1. Plain Language of the Statute**

South Carolina Code Section 40-11-370(C) provides:

"An entity which does not have a valid license as required by this chapter may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of **a contract**. An entity that enters into **a contract to engage in construction** in a name other than the name that appears on its license may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of the contract."

*S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C)* (emphasis added).

The statute contains two distinct prohibitions: (1) enforcement of "a contract" by an unlicensed entity, and (2) enforcement of "a contract to engage in construction" by an entity using a name other than that on its license. The critical distinction is that the first prohibition applies only to contracts requiring licensure under Chapter 11, while the second explicitly references "contracts to engage in construction."

#### **2. The Statute's Scope is Limited to Construction Contracts**

The plain language of § 40-11-370(C) must be read in context with the entire Chapter 11, which governs contractor licensing. The definitional section, S.C. Code § 40-11-20, makes clear that the chapter regulates "general construction" and "mechanical construction":

- **"General construction"** means "the installation, replacement, or repair of a building, structure, highway, sewer, grading, asphalt or concrete paving, or improvement of any kind to real property." *S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-20(10)*.
- **"Mechanical construction"** means "the installation, replacement, or repair of plumbing, heating, air conditioning, process piping, refrigeration, lightning protection equipment, or electrical components, fixtures, or devices of any kind." *S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-20(17)*.

A real estate purchase contract does not involve the "installation, replacement, or repair" of anything. It is a contract for the transfer of ownership of real property, not for construction services.

### **3. Legislative Intent and Purpose**

The purpose of Chapter 11 is "to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public through the regulation of businesses and individuals who identify, assess, and provide contract work" related to construction. *S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-10(A)*.

The legislative intent behind § 40-11-370(C) is to prevent unlicensed contractors from enforcing construction contracts, thereby encouraging compliance with licensing requirements and protecting the public from unqualified construction work. This protective purpose does not extend to real estate purchase agreements, which involve property transfer, not construction services.

### **4. The Statute Must Be Strictly Construed**

Statutes that bar access to courts are in derogation of common law and must be strictly construed. The General Assembly chose specific language limiting the application of § 40-11-370(C) to contracts requiring licensure under Chapter 11. Had the legislature intended to bar all contract enforcement by any entity that might need a contractor's license for other activities, it could have used broader language.

## **B. Application of § 40-11-370(C) to Non-Construction Contracts Would Be Unreasonable and Contrary to Public Policy**

### **1. Overbroad Application Would Create Absurd Results**

If § 40-11-370(C) applied to all contracts entered into by entities that might need contractor licensing for other activities, it would create absurd results. For example:

- A licensed real estate agent who also does construction work could not enforce real estate sales contracts

- A property developer could not enforce financing agreements
- A construction company could not enforce equipment leases or supply contracts

Such broad application would far exceed the statute's purpose and create unreasonable barriers to legitimate business transactions.

## **2. Real Estate Purchase Contracts Serve Different Public Interests**

Real estate purchase contracts are governed by different statutes and serve different public policy interests than construction contracts. Real estate transactions are regulated under Title 40, Chapter 57 (Real Estate Brokers and Salespersons) and involve consumer protections related to property disclosure, financing, and title transfer—not construction safety and workmanship.

### **C. No Construction Contract or Pay For Construction Services Were Involved**

In this case, the underlying transaction involved only a real estate purchase contract. There was no:

- Agreement to perform construction work
- Provision of construction services for pay or otherwise
- Installation, replacement, or repair of any building or structure
- Contract requiring licensure under Chapter 11

The complete absence of any construction-related contract or services removes this matter from the scope of § 40-11-370(C).

See also where in *Berkebile v. Outen*, 311 S.C. 50, 426 S.E.2d 760 (1993), the Supreme Court acknowledged the general rule that courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the constitution. See also *Grant v. Butt*, 198 S.C. 298, 17 S.E.2d 689 (1941); *Rountree v. Ingle*, 94 S.C. 231, 77 S.E. 931 (1913).

In *Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 272, 276, 437 S.E.2d 168, (1993) the Court of Appeals reasoned that “it is a well-founded policy of law that no person be permitted to acquire a right of action from their own unlawful act and one who participates in an unlawful act cannot recover damages for the consequence of that act. This rule applies at both law and in equity and whether the cause of action is in contract or in tort....” *Id.* at 170.

South Carolina Code Section 40-11-370(C) is a licensing enforcement mechanism limited to construction contracts and construction services. It does not apply to real estate purchase contracts, which involve property transfer rather than construction work. The statute should be strictly construed according to its plain language and legislative purpose.

Where, as here, no construction contract or construction services were involved, § 40-11-370(C) cannot bar enforcement of a real estate purchase contract. To hold otherwise would improperly expand the statute beyond its intended scope and create unreasonable barriers to legitimate real estate transactions. For these reasons, this Court should hold that S.C. Code § 40-11-370(C) does not apply to real estate purchase contracts and does not bar enforcement of the contract at issue in this case.

**2. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL CLAIMS, SOME THAT WERE NOT DEFENDED BY RESPONDENTS ON DEMURR (Quantum Meruit and Unjust Enrichment)**

**I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from a breach of purchase contract in which the trial court erroneously denied Appellant's claims for quantum meruit and unjust enrichment. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents, finding that a contract for construction existed and that Appellant was not entitled to equitable relief. This appeal challenges that ruling.

## **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

- The nature of the purchase contract and the circumstances of its breach
- Services, goods, or benefits provided by Appellant to Respondent
- Respondent's acceptance and retention of such benefits
- The value of benefits conferred and circumstances making retention inequitable

## **III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's claim for quantum meruit when Appellant conferred valuable benefits upon Respondents, Respondents realized and retained those benefits, and retention of such benefits without compensation would be inequitable.

2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's claim for unjust enrichment when Respondent was enriched at Appellant's expense under circumstances making such enrichment unjust.

## **IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Questions of law, including the proper application of legal standards for quantum meruit and unjust enrichment claims, are reviewed de novo. *Quality Towing, Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, Op. No. 25103 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed April 3, 2000). Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

## **V. ARGUMENT**

### **A. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Find That Appellant Is Entitled to Recovery Under the Theory of Quantum Meruit**

#### **1. South Carolina's Three-Part Test for Quantum Meruit**

South Carolina recognizes quantum meruit as an equitable remedy designed to prevent unjust enrichment. In *Myrtle Beach Hosp., Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 358 S.C. 172, 595 S.E.2d 13 (2004), the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified that "quantum meruit, quasi-contract, and implied by law contract are equivalent terms for an equitable remedy." *Id.* at 181, 595 S.E.2d at 18.

To recover on a theory of quantum meruit, a claimant must prove three elements:

- (1) A benefit conferred by the plaintiff upon the defendant;
- (2) Realization of that benefit by the defendant; and
- (3) Retention of the benefit by the defendant under circumstances that make it inequitable for him to retain it without paying its value. *Myrtle Beach Hosp.*, 358 S.C. at 181, 595 S.E.2d at 18 (adopting the test from *Scudder May Corp. v. S.C. State Dev. Bd.*, 115 S.C. 335, 105 S.E. 576 (1921)).

This test superseded the four-part test previously used by the Court of Appeals, which the Supreme Court expressly overruled. *Id.* at 182, 595 S.E.2d at 18 (overruling *Bonaparte v. Bonaparte*, 317 S.C. 256, 452 S.E.2d 836 (1995) and related cases).

#### **2. Application to the Present Case**

##### **Element One: Benefit Conferred by Appellant**

Appellant conferred substantial benefits upon Respondent through the improvements of the burned-out property to be suitable for financing. These benefits included substantially improving the value of the property. The value of these benefits is evidenced by the lien under Quantum Meruits.

### **Element Two: Realization of Benefit by Respondent**

Respondent clearly realized and accepted these benefits, as evidenced by their retention of the improvements to the property under the falsity of ownership by D&B Real Estate Investment LLC for which there is no D&B Real Estate Investment LLC nor does any D&B Real Estate Investment LLC own the subject property at 331 Loop St Greenville South Carolina. Respondent's actions demonstrate conscious acceptance and utilization of the benefits provided by Appellant.

### **Element Three: Inequitable Retention Without Payment**

Under the circumstances of this case, it would be inequitable for Respondent to retain these benefits without compensation. The reliance by Appellant was predicated upon Respondents' assertion that they owned the property and that the title to the property was free and clear. Absent any title search of the property within the last twenty years, Respondents could not have been certain that the title was clear. In fact, Respondents knew the title was not and is not clear, per Attorney Andrew Jones, who conducted a prior title search. See Exhibit B.

Respondent's conduct suggesting they retain an undeserved windfall is absurd. The doctrine of quantum meruit exists precisely to prevent such unjust enrichment.

### **3. Quantum Meruit Applies Despite Contract Dispute**

South Carolina law recognizes that quantum meruit may apply even when there are contractual disputes. As the Court explained in *Myrtle Beach Hospital*, quantum meruit serves as an equitable remedy when strict contractual enforcement would be unjust. *Id.* The failed or disputed contract in this case does not bar recovery under quantum meruit principles.

## **B. Alternatively, the Trial Court Erred in Failing to Find That Respondent Was Unjustly Enriched at Appellant's Expense**

### **1. Unjust Enrichment as Equivalent to Quantum Meruit in South Carolina**

Under South Carolina law, "the terms contract implied-in-law, quantum meruit, quasi-contract, restitution, and unjust enrichment have often been used interchangeably to refer to the same type of claim for equitable relief." *Myrtle Beach Hosp.*, 358 S.C. at 180, 595 S.E.2d at 17. The South Carolina Supreme Court has clarified that these terms are "equivalent" and governed by the same three-part test. *Id.* at 181, 595 S.E.2d at 18.

### **2. Historical Development of the Doctrine**

The Court has long recognized that the purpose of both quantum meruit and unjust enrichment is to restore equity when one party receives a benefit "which would be unjust for him to retain without paying for it." Prior to *Piedmont Premium Serv., Inc. v. S.C. Ins. Co.*, 277 S.C. 99, 283 S.E.2d 828 (1981), South Carolina courts used quantum meruit, quasi-contract, and contract implied by law as equivalent terms to distinguish equitable relief from legal remedies. *Myrtle Beach Hosp.*, 358 S.C. at 179, 595 S.E.2d at 17.

In equity, "the measure of the recovery is the extent of the duty or obligation imposed by law, and is expressed by the amount which the court considers the defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the plaintiff." *United States Rubber Products, Inc. v. Town of Batesburg*, 183 S.C. 49, 53, 190 S.E. 120, 122 (1937).

### **3. Application of Unjust Enrichment Principles**

Under either characterization—quantum meruit or unjust enrichment—Appellant has satisfied all required elements:

**Benefit Conferred:** As mentioned above

**Realization by Respondent:** Respondent's acceptance, retention and use of benefits

**Inequitable Retention:** The utter unfairness of allowing Respondents to retain these benefits without payment, considering all circumstances is a violation of law as well as a clear violation of public policy and decency. The trial court's failure to recognize these clear elements constitutes reversible error.

#### **4. Measure of Damages**

Under South Carolina law, the measure of recovery in quantum meruit/unjust enrichment cases is "the reasonable value of the services rendered" or "the amount which the court considers the defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the plaintiff." The evidence establishes that the reasonable value of Appellant's services and/or goods is \$45,000+- based on receipts, market rates, and industry standards

#### **5. No Bar to Recovery**

Nothing in the record establishes any valid defense to Appellant's equitable claims. Respondent has not demonstrated:

- That Appellant's performance was gratuitous;
- That the benefits were not actually received or utilized;
- That retention of the benefits would be equitable under the circumstances;
- That any statute of limitations bars recovery under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530.

The trial court committed reversible error in denying Appellant's claims for quantum meruit and unjust enrichment. Under the controlling authority of *Myrtle Beach Hospital*, Appellant has established all required elements for recovery under either theory. The evidence clearly demonstrates that

- (1) Appellant conferred valuable benefits upon Respondent,
- (2) Respondent realized and accepted those benefits, and

(3) retention of such benefits without payment would be inequitable.

South Carolina's commitment to preventing unjust enrichment demands that this Court reverse the trial court's judgment and remand for entry of judgment in favor of Appellant, or alternatively, remand for trial on the issue of damages.

#### 4. WHETHER D&B REAL INVESTMENTS LLC IS ERRONEOUSLY LISTED AS OWNER OF PROPERTY AND SIGNED BY DARIUS JONES

##### **I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**Issue 1:** Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents when the purchase contract was executed in the name of a non-existent entity, rendering the contract void or unenforceable.

**Issue 2:** Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment when genuine issues of material fact existed regarding the validity of the purchase contract where the contracting entity did not legally exist at the time of contract execution.

**Issue 3:** Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment without requiring Respondents to reimburse Appellant's costs when Respondents failed to provide clear title to the property as required under the purchase agreement.

##### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondents in a breach of purchase contract action. Appellant entered into a purchase contract for real property with what appeared to be a legitimate business entity. Subsequently, it was discovered that while the legal property owner executed the contract, the entity name used in the contract did not legally exist at the time of execution. The true property owners could not provide clear title as required under the purchase agreement. Despite these fundamental defects in the contractual relationship and Respondents' failure to perform, the trial court

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