THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Judge G.D. Morgan

Appellate Case No. 2024-000731
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-23-00312

RECEIVED

AUG 01 2025

SC Court of Appeals

D&B Real Estate Ventures, LLC; Darius Jones; Bradley Robinson..... Respondents.

And

Christopher Jones.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

HOLDER, PADGETT, LITTLEJOHN + PRICKETT, LLC
M. Stokely Holder
S.C. Bar No. 73892
sholder@hplplaw.com

Ra'na Heidari
S.C. Bar No. 104501
rheidari@hplplaw.com
P.O. Box 1804
Greenville, South Carolina 29602
(864) 335-8808

Attorneys for Respondents

Greenville, South Carolina
July 28, 2025

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED S.C. CODE ANN. § 40-11-370(C) TO BAR APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FOR COMPENSATION BASED ON UNLICENSED CONSTRUCTION WORK

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in applying S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C) because the underlying dispute involves a "real estate purchase contract," not a "construction contract." This argument is unavailing. South Carolina courts examine the substance of a claim rather than its form. Appellant's pleadings and admissions establish that he performed unlicensed construction work on the subject property and seeks compensation for those services. Whether framed as a breach of contract or an equitable claim, the relief Appellant seeks is statutorily barred.

A. Section 40-11-370(C) Applies to Any Claim, Legal or Equitable, Seeking Enforcement of a Contract Requiring a Contractor's License

Section 40-11-370(C) provides that an entity "which does not have a valid license as required by this chapter may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of a contract." S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C) (Supp. 2023). The South Carolina Supreme Court has strictly enforced this provision, including in cases where an unlicensed or underlicensed contractor sought payment for construction work under the guise of a broader contractual relationship. *See C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 51, 57–58, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013); *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Moon*, 298 S.C. 167, 168–69, 378 S.E.2d 53, 54 (1989); *Duckworth v. Cameron*, 270 S.C. 647, 649, 244 S.E.2d 217, 218 (1978).

In *C-Sculptures*, the Court rejected the contractor's argument that its partial licensure excused the bar to recovery. It reiterated that the prohibition in § 40-11-370(C) applies regardless of good faith or equitable concerns, so long as the claim arises from unlicensed work requiring a license under Chapter 11.

B. Appellant's Own Complaint and Hearing Testimony Confirm That He Performed Construction Work and Seeks Compensation for It

Although Appellant now characterizes the dispute as arising solely from a real estate transaction, his Complaint and statements at the March 7, 2024 hearing tell a different story. Appellant expressly alleged that he contracted with Respondents "to perform repairs" on the subject property and that he personally "provided labor and materials for construction." (Compl. ¶¶ 6–9). He further testified at the hearing that he "paid every penny" for the renovation of the house and managed the work. *See* Tr. Hr'g at 7:1–9:25, *Jones v. D&B Real Estate Ventures, LLC*, No. 2024-CP-23-00312 (S.C. Ct. Com. Pl. Mar. 7, 2024).

These admissions place Appellant squarely within the category of persons barred by § 40-11-370(C): those who "perform or offer to perform" construction work without the requisite license.

C. Appellant's Own Complaint and Hearing Testimony Confirm That He Performed Construction Work and Seeks Compensation for It

The statute bars any legal or equitable action to enforce a contract requiring licensure. That bar applies regardless of whether the written contract is styled as a "purchase agreement" or whether Appellant now disclaims the label "contractor." Courts do not permit parties to circumvent regulatory statutes by artfully recharacterizing their claims. *See Earthscapes Unlimited, Inc. v. Ulbrich*, 390 S.C. 600, 610–11, 703 S.E.2d 221, 226 (2010). The dispositive inquiry is not how

Appellant labels his contract, but whether the work performed required a license under Chapter 11.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-20(10), general construction includes “the installation, replacement, or repair of a building” or “improvement of any kind to real property.” By his own admissions, Appellant performed or supervised extensive improvements to the structure in order to make it suitable for financing. This is general construction work subject to the licensing requirement, and it triggers the statutory bar under § 40-11-370(C).

D. Appellant’s Attempt to Reframe the Dispute as a Real Estate Matter Is Not Supported by the Record

Even if the parties initially contemplated a property sale, Appellant’s suit seeks to recover expenses incurred for improving the property. That relief is not tied to ownership but to compensation for construction activities. The statutory bar applies equally to individuals who perform construction work without a license and later sue for reimbursement—regardless of any surrounding real estate negotiations.

The trial court correctly concluded that Appellant’s claims fall within the scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C). Appellant seeks to recover compensation for construction work performed while unlicensed. The statute unambiguously prohibits such claims, and South Carolina courts have strictly enforced that prohibition. The judgment should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANT’S EQUITABLE CLAIMS FOR QUANTUM MERUIT AND UNJUST ENRICHMENT BECAUSE THEY ARE STATUTORILY BARRED

Appellant contends that, even if no enforceable contract existed, he is nonetheless entitled to recover under equitable theories of quantum meruit and unjust enrichment. This argument fails as a matter of law. The statutory bar in S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-

370(C) applies broadly to preclude any recovery—whether legal or equitable—by an unlicensed contractor for work requiring licensure under Chapter 11.

A. Section 40-11-370(C) Bars Recovery in Both Law and Equity

The statute provides that an unlicensed entity “may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of a contract.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C) (Supp. 2023). The South Carolina Supreme Court has consistently interpreted this language as a categorical bar. See *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 51, 57–58, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013); *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Moon*, 298 S.C. 167, 168–69, 378 S.E.2d 53, 54 (1989); *Duckworth v. Cameron*, 270 S.C. 647, 649, 244 S.E.2d 217, 218 (1978).

In *C-Sculptures*, the Court held that even partial or underlicensure precludes recovery, explaining that equitable claims cannot be used to evade a regulatory statute. The Court’s reasoning is clear: “[u]nder the plain language of the statute, [the contractor] cannot bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of the contract.” 403 S.C. at 58, 742 S.E.2d at 361.

B. South Carolina Courts Have Rejected Attempts to Circumvent the Licensing Statute Through Equitable Doctrines

Appellant’s reliance on *Myrtle Beach Hosp., Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 358 S.C. 172, 595 S.E.2d 13 (2004), is misplaced. That case outlines the test for quantum meruit in general but does not override the statutory limitation imposed by § 40-11-370(C). Where a statute specifically prohibits equitable recovery for unlicensed work, courts do not apply general principles of equity to defeat that legislative intent.

In *Earthscapes Unlimited, Inc. v. Ulbrich*, 390 S.C. 600, 703 S.E.2d 221 (2010), the Supreme Court held that quantum meruit may only be available when (1) no express contract exists and (2) the licensing defense is not raised. Where the

defense is properly pled, as here, equitable recovery is barred. *See also Madren v. Bradford*, 381 S.C. 35, 43–44, 671 S.E.2d 329, 333 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding that § 40-11-370(C) is an affirmative defense that precludes equitable claims when timely raised).

C. Appellant’s Complaint and Hearing Statements Confirm That His Equitable Claims Arise from Unlicensed Construction Work

Appellant seeks to recover for the value of improvements made to the subject property. His Complaint alleges he supplied labor and materials and “substantially improved” the property. He reiterated these assertions in open court, stating he “paid every penny” for the work and improvements. *See* Tr. Hr’g at 7:1–9:25, *Jones v. D&B Real Estate Ventures, LLC*, No. 2024-CP-23-00312 (S.C. Ct. Com. Pl. Mar. 7, 2024).

These admissions place Appellant’s claims squarely within the ambit of § 40-11-370(C). Because the statute bars enforcement of contracts and claims in equity for work requiring licensure, Appellant’s equitable claims fail as a matter of law.

D. Equity Does Not Excuse Statutory Noncompliance

Appellant argues that denying recovery would unjustly enrich Respondents. However, South Carolina courts have rejected equitable recovery in similar circumstances involving unlicensed construction. In *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Moon*, the Supreme Court reaffirmed that an unlicensed contractor “simply cannot enforce the contract,” citing *Duckworth v. Cameron* as controlling authority. 298 S.C. 167, 168, 378 S.E.2d 53, 54 (1989) (per curiam); *see also Duckworth v. Cameron*, 270 S.C. 647, 649, 244 S.E.2d 217, 218 (1978).

In *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, the Court reiterated that under S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C), an unlicensed or underlicensed party is barred from bringing

an action “at law or in equity.” 403 S.C. 51, 58, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013). This prohibition encompasses claims for unjust enrichment or quantum meruit, even where the opposing party arguably benefitted from the work performed.

South Carolina’s licensing statutes reflect the legislature’s judgment that contractors who fail to comply with regulatory safeguards may not seek judicial compensation for unlicensed construction work. The remedy for any unfairness lies with the General Assembly—not the courts. The trial court correctly applied this statutory bar.

Appellant’s claims for quantum meruit and unjust enrichment are precluded by S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C). The trial court correctly recognized that equitable remedies are not available to those who perform unlicensed work requiring a contractor’s license. The dismissal of Appellant’s equitable claims should be affirmed.

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED APPELLANT’S MISIDENTIFICATION ARGUMENT BECAUSE IT IS IRRELEVANT TO THE STATUTORY BAR AND DOES NOT ESTABLISH A RIGHT TO RECOVERY

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in granting dismissal because the purchase contract named “D&B Real Estate Investments, LLC”—an entity he asserts does not exist—rather than “D&B Real Estate Ventures, LLC.” This argument is a red herring. The identity of the Respondent entity has no bearing on the applicability of S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C), which bars Appellant’s claims based on his own lack of licensure. Moreover, Appellant cannot use an alleged misnomer to shift liability or create a cause of action where none exists. The trial court correctly dismissed Appellant’s claims under S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C), and any alleged misnomer in the entity name does not alter the dispositive statutory analysis, nor does it create a genuine issue of material fact under South Carolina law.

A. Appellant’s Claims Are Barred by Statute, Regardless of the Contracting Entity

Appellant's claims are not dismissed because of any contract formation defect attributable to Respondents. They are barred because Appellant performed or offered to perform construction work while unlicensed. The applicability of § 40-11-370(C) turns solely on Appellant's conduct—not on the precise name of the entity listed in the contract. *See C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 51, 58, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013) (barring recovery where contractor lacked proper licensure, regardless of factual disputes).

Even if there were a technical discrepancy in the entity name, that would not exempt Appellant from compliance with the licensing statutes or permit him to recover under contract or equity for unlicensed work.

B. Appellant's Misnomer Theory Does Not Create a Valid Claim

South Carolina courts have held that misnaming a corporation or individual in a legal instrument does not defeat jurisdiction or liability where the intended party is apparent and has not been misled. In *Rayburn v. Dysart*, the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal where the party was served and had actual notice, despite a naming error. The court cited a long line of authority holding that "[t]he misnomer of a corporation in a notice, summons, or other step in a judicial proceeding is immaterial if it appears the corporation could not have been, or was not, misled." *See Rayburn v. Dysart*, No. 2019-UP-225, 2019 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 220 (Ct. App. June 26, 2019) (quoting *Griffin v. Capital Cash*, 310 S.C. 288, 292, 423 S.E.2d 143, 146 (Ct. App. 1992)). *See also Tri-Cty. Ice & Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co.*, 303 S.C. 237, 240, 399 S.E.2d 779, 781 (1990) (affirming enforcement of a judgment against the real party despite a misnomer); *Roche v. Young Bros. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 209–10, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995) (inquiry focuses on whether the party was misled or denied notice).

Here, Appellant does not allege that he was misled. To the contrary, he affirmatively alleges that he entered the agreement with Darius Jones and Bradley Robinson, personally communicated with them, and relied on their conduct throughout the transaction. The individuals he dealt with were the Respondents named in this appeal. He cannot now claim surprise or confusion about their identity based on a typographical error.

C. The Entity Name Discrepancy Does Not Cure the Underlying Bar to Recovery

Even if Appellant could establish that the purchase contract misidentified the seller, that would not entitle him to recover for construction work performed without a valid license. His claims seek compensation for labor and materials provided in connection with improving the property, not for enforcing a real estate conveyance. The South Carolina Supreme Court has made clear that unlicensed contractors may not enforce a contract for construction services, regardless of the existence or validity of the written agreement. *See Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Moon*, 298 S.C. 167, 168–69, 378 S.E.2d 53, 54 (1989) (per curiam) (holding that a contractor who was unlicensed at the time of contract formation “simply cannot enforce the contract”).

Appellant’s lack of licensure—not the naming of the Respondent entity—is the dispositive defect. The trial court properly applied the statutory bar in S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C), and the naming issue is immaterial to the outcome.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE AFFIDAVIT FROM LLR AND DISMISSAL WAS INDEPENDENTLY JUSTIFIED BY APPELLANT’S OWN PLEADINGS

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by considering an affidavit from a representative of the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation

(LLR) on the grounds that it was improperly formatted or defective under Rule 56(e), SCRCF. This argument fails for multiple reasons. First, the affidavit was admissible and satisfied the requirements of Rule 56(e). Second, the trial court was entitled to rely on the contents of the affidavit as unrefuted evidence from a public agency. Third, even without the affidavit, the allegations in Appellant's own pleadings were sufficient to support dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6).

A. The LLR Affidavit Was Admissible and Satisfied Rule 56(e)

Rule 56(e), SCRCF, requires that affidavits supporting or opposing a motion for summary judgment must: (1) be made on personal knowledge, (2) set forth facts that would be admissible in evidence, and (3) show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify.

The LLR affidavit satisfied these requirements. It was executed by a representative of the agency, based on a search of official licensing records, and confirmed that Appellant did not hold a valid contractor's license at any time relevant to the claims in this case. Records maintained by public agencies are routinely admissible under the business records exception to the hearsay rule and are commonly used to establish licensure status. *See* Rule 803(8), SCRE.

Appellant's objection that the affidavit contained a "third-person narrative" or was signed in "first-person voice" is irrelevant. Rule 56(e) does not require a particular narrative style or grammatical form. What matters is that the affiant (1) had personal knowledge of the licensing records, (2) stated admissible facts, and (3) was competent to testify. The affidavit satisfied all three.

B. Appellant Offered No Evidence to Dispute the Affidavit's Contents

Even if Appellant had valid procedural objections to the format of the affidavit, he presented no evidence to dispute its substance. Under Rule 56(e),

SCRCF, “[w]hen a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response ... must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”

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